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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

DANIEL W. OWENS,
Plaintiff,

VS. No. 1:15ev-00776JMS DKL

ROBERT J. DOWNEYin hisindividual
capacity,

BRIAN K. GABEHART, in hisindividual
capacity,

MORGAN COUNTY SHERIFF'S
DEPARTMENT,

NORMAN VOYLES, in hisofficial
capacity,

MORGAN COUNTY,INDIANA,
CHARLES E BEAVER,

SHELLY BEAVER,

CHARLES W. BEAVER, and
BRIEANNA BEAVER,

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.

ENTRY ON DEFENDANTS’ MOTION STO DISMISS

Presently pendigg before the Court are: (1) a Motion to Disniilexi by Defendants Sheriff

Robert J. Downey Gheriff Downey), in his individual capacity, Deputy Brian K. Gabehart

(“Deputy Gabehal}, in his individual capacity, anthe Morgan CountySheriff's Department

(collectively the Morgan County Defendaris® [Filing No. 37; and (2) a Motion to Dismiss

filed by Defendantharles E. Beavdf Charli€'), Shelly Beaver, Charles VBeaver (‘ChuckK),

and Brieana Beaver(collectively the “Beaver Defendarifs [Filing No. 4. For simplicity, at

! The Morgan County Defendants’ brief includes Norrwayles and Morgan County asoving
defendants.Hiling No. 37 at 1] AlthoughMr. Owens included both defendants in the caption of

the Amended Complaint, he clarifies in his response that he no longer intends to keep them as
defendants.Hiling No. 45 at 1] The claims against them are therefore dismissed.
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times the Court will refer to the moving partedlectively as “Defendants” for purposes of this
motion For the reasonsletailed herein, the CouBRANTS in part andDENIES in part
Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss.

l.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(#¢équires only ‘a short and plain statement of the
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief=Fickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007)
(quotingFed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(3) “Specific facts are not necessary, the statement need only ‘give
the defendant fair notice of what the . . . claim is and the grounds upon which it rEsitsk%on,
551 U.S. at 93quotingBell Atlantic v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (200)7)

A 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss asks whether ttmamplaint “contain[s] sufficient factual
matter, accepted as true ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its facéShcroft v. Igbal,
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009guotingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 570 In reviewing the sufficiency of a
complaint, the Court must accept all weléd facts as true and draw all permissible inferences in
favor of the plaintiff. See Active Disposal, Inc. v. City of Darien, 635 F.3d 883, 886 (7th Cir.
2011) The Court will not accept legal conclusions or conclusory allegation$fiasesi to state
a claim for relief. See McCauley v. City of Chicago, 671 F.3d 611, 617 (7th Cir. 2011actual
allegations must plausibly state an entitlement to relief “to a degree that risesladepedative
level.” Munson v. Gaetz, 673 F.3d 630, 633 (7th Cir. 201ZThis plausibility determination is “a
contextspedfic task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experiende an
common sense.1d.

Il.
BACKGROUND

The factual allegtions inMr. Owens’ AmendedComplaint which the Court must accept

as true, are as follows.
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Mr. Owens alleges that the Beaver Defendants conspired with the Morgan County
Defendants tavrongfully prosecute him for trespassitige propertyline locatedbetween the

Beaver Defendantg@ropertyand Mr. Owensproperty(the “Disputed Property. [Filing No. 33

at 5] Charlie is married to Shellgnd Charlie’s son, Chuck, is married to Briean[Filing No.
33 at 2] Charliepreviously serveas theSheriff of the Morgan County Sheriff's Departméot
three yearsand continues to have strong political connections in Morgan Couatyng[No. 33

at4] Charlie has known Sheriff Downey forost of his life. Filing No. 33 at 34.] WhenCharlie

was Sieriff, he hired Sheriff Downey to work at the Morgan County Sheriff's Department and
subsequently endorsed Sheriff Downey’s camp#&agisheriff of Morgan County.[Filing No. 33
at 4] Shelly has also worked at the Morgan County Sheriff's Department for yeany. Filing

No. 33 at 4 Mr. Owens claims that the Beaver Defendants treat him as anevudgitie Morgan

County “good ole boys” network.F{ling No. 33 at 4

Mr. Owens purchased his houseMorgan County in 2006 and additional acreage in 20009.

[Filing No. 33 at § His property is located next the Beaver Defendants’ propefiyling No.

33 at 4] In prior yearsbefore Mr. Owens purchased the propesgveralsurveyors performed
surveyf the properties, and the surveys indidagaps inthedeed descriptions and uncertainties

in the lines of occupation around the Disputed Propefyin§ No. 33 at 1(

Mr. Owensmakes several allegations of harassment by the Beaver Defer{dants.No.
33 at4.] Upon moving in, Mr. Owenmadeimprovementson his propertyto operate a septic

business and a horse training and breeding busifesgsig No. 33 at § In the fall 0of2008, the

Beaver Defendantsotified the Morgan County Planning Department (“Planning Departineht

2 Mr. Owens does natlarify which of the Beaver Defendantsvns the propertyext to his
property, and simply refers to “the Beavers” when discussing the propertidimete.
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Mr. Owens’ improvementgFiling No. 33 at § WhenMr. Owenswas notified of the complaint

hefiled a variance applicatiowith the Planning Departmeraitended @&ubsequent hearing, and

was granted the variancg-=iling No. 33 at § SubsequentlyCharlieand Chuck filed an affidavit

falsely accusing Mr. Owens of using underground storage tanks on his property, but the India

Departmenof Environmental Managemefaund no evidence of illegal us€tiling No. 33 at

The BeaveDefendantghencontacted thérusteeof Jackson Civil Township of Morgan County
to have himspeak withMr. Owensaboutestablishingan easemerfbr a tornado sireron his

property [Filing No. 33 at § Mr. Owens expressed concern due tdbisebusiness, buagreed

to the installation after the trustemassured/r. Owensthat the sirerwould notaffectthe horses

[Filing No. 33 at §

During the installation of the siren in 2009, a surveyor commissioned by the trustee w
the legal descriptions for an access easement, utility easement, and locationtegdsé@megriNo.
33 at 8] The surveyor omitted uncertainties regarding the reference monuments df tiee title
documents of record, and the lines of active occupation, and the Beaver Defehcantéd the
surveyor to move the boundary line to gain title over a property adjoining Mr. Owens’tgroper

[Filing No. 33 at 810.] After the survey wrk was completed, the Beaver Defendants sent Mr.

Owens a “Consent to Encroach” document, which purported to show that the gravel drive locate
on Mr. Owens’ property was partly Mr. Owens’ property and partly the Beavembeafts’

property. Filing No. 33 at 1J Mr. Owens refused to sign the Consent to Encroach document,

and the Beaver Defendants sent him a letter threatening to erect a fence on the geavelldriy
No. 33 at 10 Mr. Owens’ counsel sent a letter to the Beaver Defendants, acknaougeitigi

property line dispute and requesting an amicable solutidifing No. 33 at 1(]
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After the installation of the sirethe Morgan County Sheriff’'s Departmentdggered the
siren manyimes, whichcaused Mr. Owens$orse busines® shut dowrbecause of theignificant

impact onhis horses [Filing No. 33 at 7] Mr. Owensfiled a lawsuit againghe trusteeanda

hearing was helchiJune 2013wvhereCharlieand Chuckestified in favor of therustee [Filing
No. 33 at 7-d The trial court entered judgment in favor of Mr. Owens and orderedutee to

relocate the siren[Filing No. 33 at §

Prior to the June 2013 trie¢latedthe tornado siren, Charlie and Shelly contacted Sheriff
Downey at his home andeused Mr. Owens of trespass when he mawedrasson theDisputed

Property [Filing No. 33 at 1112.] Charlie and Sheriff Downey agreed to confront Mr. Owens

and both otthemwent to Mr. Owens’ home on Mal6, 2013. Filing No. 33 at 19 Sheriff

Downey accused Mr. Owens of trespasong_harlie’s propertyand threatened to arrest him if

he trespassed agaifFiling No. 33 at 1213.] Mr. Owenstold Sheriff Downeythat there was a

property line dispute and that he owned the Disputed Prapeotygh adverse possessiohilifg
No. 33 at 13 However,Sheriff Downeythreatened to arrebtr. Owens if Mr. Owens disobeyed

his orders. [filing No. 33 at 13

On May 18, 2013, ShellgalledSheriff Downey at hifiome to tell him that Briesmasaw

Mr. Owens mowing the Disputed PropertyEiljpg No. 33 at 13 Brieama gave an unsigned,

written statement to Shellwho delivered it to Sheriff Downey. Hiling No. 33 at 13 On May

30, 2013, Mr. Owens’ attorney sent a letter to Sheriff Downey to inform him dbo®property

line dispute beteen the Beaar Defendantand Mr. Owens. [Filing No. 33 at 14 Sheriff

Downey prepared a probable cause affidavit based on Basawritten statement antdé Morgan
County Prosecutor’s Officeharged Mr. Owens with two counts of criminal trespaSgnf) No.

33 at 15] ThereafterDeputy Gabehart received a written statement from Chuck accusing Mr.
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Owens of mowing th®isputed Property. Hiling No. 33 at 1§ Based onhatwritten statement

and a conversation he had with Charlie, Deputy Gabehart drafted a probable idagé ahd
the Morgan Countyrosecutor’s Office charged Mr. Owens wathadditional count of criminal

trespass and one count of criminal mischiéfilirfjg No. 33 at 1 These charges were filed two

weekspriorto the tornado siren trial Fjling No. 33 at 1§ Additionally, Mr. Owens was arrestéd

and while on bond and during the pendency of his prosecution, he was deprived dfisising
driveway without the Beaver Defendants’ permission and with threat of inaaoredue to the

proximity to the Disputed PropertyFi[ing No. 33 at 19 In the three months leading up to Mr.

Owens criminal trial, Mr. Owensalleges that havas pulled over twentgix times by deputies
from the Morgan County Sheréf Department and troopeifrom the Indiana State Police as a

form of intimidation [Filing No. 33 at 20-2] Mr. Owens’criminal trial was held on October 7,

2013, and the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on October 8, 2013, fully acquitting Mr. Owens

of all charges[Filing No. 33 at 2]] On January 14, 2015, Mr. Owens provided a tort claim notice

to the Morgan County Sheriff's Department, Sheriff Downey, Deputy Gabeamalthe Beaver

Defendants [Filing No. 33 at 2]

Mr. Owens Amended Complaintassertsa 42 U.S.C.8§8 1983 claim for malicious
prosecutionn violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendmegainst the Morgan County

Defendantsa civil conspiracyclaim* against all @fendantsandstate law claimgor intentional

3 Mr. Owens does natiscuss any details ¢iis arrest, such as when or by whom he was arrested.

4 Mr. Owens does not raise the civil conspiracy claim as a separate count imtreled
Complant. The Amended Complaint contains allegations, however, that aitude civil
conspiracybetweerthe DefendantsAdditionally, the Morgan County Defendants and the Beaver
Defendantghallenge Mr. Owens’ civil conspiracy claim in their briefs.
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infliction of emotional distressnalicious prosecution, false arrest, ands&bof process against

all Defendants.[Filing No. 33 at 23-29

1"l.
DISCUSSION

TheMorgan CountyDefendantsand the Beaver Defendarftied two separate motions to
dismissMr. Owens’ AmendedComplaint, challengingdr. Owens’ claims orvarious grounds.
The Court notes, however, that tparties’ briefs complicated theCourt’s review of the issues.
The Courtfaceddifficulty addressing thissueghat the partiesaisedbecause the issues were not
aligned in their briefsandmanyargumentsegardingMr. Owens’constitutional violationsvere
not sufficiently specific toeach defendantAt times thepartiesdid notcite autheity to support
their argumentand presentednapplicable legal arguments omitted materiallanguage from
case law The Court will address each issue to the extent possidlany arguments thearties
intendto raise that the Court did not address are considered waived for purposes of thg pendi
motion. Kramer v. Banc of Am. Sec., LLC, 355 F.3d 961, 964 (7th CR004)(“We have repeatedly
made clear that perfunctory and undeveloped arguments, and arguments that are unsypported b
pertinent authority, are waived (even where those arguments raise camstltisgsues).”).

The Court willfirst address tharguments raiseby theMorgan County Defendants and
thenthe arguments raised by Beaver Defendants.

A. Morgan County Defendants

The Morgan County Defendants first dispute Mr. Owe®sl983 claim forfederal
malicious prosecution on various grounds. Second, the Morgan County Defendants argue that M
Owens does not plead a conspiracy claim. Third, the Morgan County Defendants chidhienge
Owens’ state law claims, arguing that he failed to provide timely notice and elyadrin barred

by the Indiana Tort Claim&ct (“ITCA”). The Court will address the issues in turn.
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1. §1983 Claimfor Malicious Prosecution

Because the Morgan County Defenttachallengéhe elements and constitutional grounds
of Mr. Owens’ federal malicius prosecution claim, the Court wilist lay out therelevant legal
principles.

“Federal courts are rarely the appropriate forum for malicious prosecutiors ¢laivie ton
v. Anderson, 770 F.3d 670, 673 (7th Cir. 2014)his is because “individuals do not have a ‘federal
right not to be summoned into court and prosecuted without probable causdri’order tostate
a viable malicious prosecution claim under § 1983, a plaintiff must “alleg[e] aigiolat a
particular constitutional right, such as the right to be free from unlawfures under the Fourth
Amendment, or the right to a fair trial under the Due Process Claude.’Further, afederal
constitutional claim of malicious prosecution under 8§ 1883ctionable when no adequate state
law remedy existsNewsome v. McCabe, 256 F.3d 747, 7561 (7th Cir. 2001{citing Albright v.
Oliver, 510 U.S. 266 (199)) In Indiana, state officers and employees acting within the scope of
their employment for the “initiation of a judicial or an administrative proceeding’geanted
absolute immunity, thus opening the door for federal malicious prosecution cldirnan v.
Hanna, 732 F.3d 842, 846-848 (7th Cir. 20X8iting Ind. Code 8§ 34-13-3-3(6)

To state a malicious prosecution claim under § 1983, a plaintiff must demonstraig that (
he has satisfied the elements of a state law cause of action for malicious pros¢2ltioe
malicious prosecution was combed by state actors; and (3¢ was deprived of libertygr was
subject to some other constitutional deprivationelton, 770 F.3d at 674citations omitted).
Under Indiana law, “the elements of a malicious prosecution action are: (1)eénhealaff instituted
or caused to be instituted an action against the plaintiff; (2) the defendant acteoushain so

doing; (3) the defendant had no probable cause to institute the action; and (4) the atiginal a
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was terminated in the plaintiff’'favor.” 1d. (citing Golden Years Homestead, Inc. v. Buckland,
557 F.3d 457, 462 (7th Cir. 2009)Malice may be shown “by evidence of personal animosity or
inferredfrom a complete lack of probable cause or a failure to conduct an adequatg@atioesti
under the circumstancesVVelton, 770 F.3d at 674
a.Probable Cause

The Morgan County Defendangsgue that the facts as pleaded netisegorobable cause
element of the state law cause of action for malicious prosecution.afdueghat Sheriff Downey
and Deputy Gabehagachhadprobable causto believethatMr. Owenstrespassd the Disputed

Property [Filing No. 37 at 14 They arguethat Charlie claimed legal title to thBisputed

Property andthat Brieama stated that Mr. Owens mowed the Disputed Propgegpite being

denied entry. Hiling No. 37 at 1516.] The Morgan County Defendantrgue that Mr. Owens

does not deny mowintipe Disputed Property and that there is no reason to question or disregard

Charliés and Brieands statements[Filing No. 37 at 1§ The Morgan County Defendants cite

to Kelley v. Myler, 149 F.3d 641 (7th Cir.9B8), andBozdin v. City of Dallas, 768 F.2d 722 (5th
Cir. 1985, to arguethat officers arenot required to check official records to determine the

boundary lines before making an arrsttrespass.[Filing No. 37 at 1718] Theyclaim that

since Mr. Owensassertownership through adverse possession, such reaordkl notexist

[Filing No. 37 at 19

In responseMr. Owens argues that tivorgan County Defendants did not have probable

cause tqursuecriminal chargesof trespassgainst Mr. Owens[Filing No. 45 at § Heargues

thatthe Morgan County Defendants were aware of the Belae&ndants’ grudge against Mr.

Owens. Filing No. 45 at § Mr. Owensclaimsthathis attorney sent a letter to Sheriff Downey

to inform him aboutthe property line disputbetween théBeaver Defendants and Mr. Owens
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[Filing No. 45 at § Additionally, he argues thaBrieama’s unsigned, written statement alone

was insufficient to establish probable caasdthatSheriff Downeyneitherspoke tdBrieanna nor

observed Mr. Owens trespass the disputed propgfying No. 45 at § He contends that he

sufficiently alleges thgtrobable cause wasduced by false testimony, fraud, aather improper

means [Filing No. 45 at 7] Lastly, heargues thaKelley andBodzin are inappositbecause the

plaintiffs in both cases did notaim ownership othe propertyhattheytrespassednd thepolice
had no reason to doubt that private establishnmemted thepropertyin question. [Filing No. 45
at7]

In reply, the Morgan County Defendants reiterate thate was probable causethink
Mr. Owenscommittedtrespassnd that there is nothing suspicious about Briaanstatement to

SheriffDowney. Filing No. 46 at 78.] Theyargue thatheonly grudge thaSheriff Downey was

aware of is that the Beaver Defenddméieved theywere the victims of arime. [Filing No. 46
at 8] Due to the timing of Mr. Owens’ letter to Sheriff Downey, the Morgan Countyridefgs
claimit is unlikely that Sheriff Downeyeviewedthe letteror that Deputy Gabehart had access to

it. [Filing No. 46 at 89.] The Morgan County Defendants argue tKatley and Bozdin are

relevantbecausé¢hepolice officeran both casebad probable cause to arrdstplaintiffs without
an obligation to review official records teterminethe property boundary lines.E[ling No. 46
at9-10]

“Probable cause to commence criminal proceedings” in the contéxmmalicious
prosecutiorexists when a reasonable inquiry would induce a reasonably intelligent and prudent
person to believe that the accused committed the crime cha@jess v. Trump Indiana, Inc.,

802 N.E.2d 461, 4667 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004{citing Conwell v. Beatty, 667 N.E.2d 768, 7789

(Ind. Ct. App. 1996) Indianacourts have held that a judicial determination of probable cause in a
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criminal proceeding constitutes prima facie evidence of probable cawseubsequent civil
lawsuit alleging malicious prosecutiorislass, 802 N.E.2d ad67, Conwell, 667 N.E.2d at 778

The plaintiff may rebut such a prima facie case of probable cause by introduiclagoethat

shows the finding of probable cause was induced by false testimony, fraud, or other improper
means such as the defendant withholding material facts at the he@rasg. 802 N.E.2d at 467

The Courtconcludeghat Mr. Owensufficiently allegeghat Sheriff Downey and Deputy
Gabehart lackeg@robable cause tpursue criminal charges tespass Mr. Owens Amended
Complaint providesa detailednarrativeof the Beaver Defendantsistory of animositytoward
Mr. Owens. Additionally, theBeaver Defendantgarticulaty Charlie hada closerelationship
with Sheriff Downeyand Charlie contacted Sheriff Downey &mcuseMr. Owensof trespass.
Further,Charlie andSheriff Downeypersonally visited Mr. Owens to confront hiaboutMr.
Owens trespassingn the Disputed PropertyIn regards to Sheriff Downey’s probable cause
affidavit, Sheiff Downey relied onthe unsignedwritten statemenfrom Brieanna Likewise,
Deputy Gabehart, who works under the dimcof Sheriff Downey, relied on Chuck’s written
statement an@harlie’stestimonythat Mr. Owengrespassethe Dspued Property. Lastly, Mr.
Owens attorney sent Sheriff Downey a letthat put him on notice abotlte property line dispute.
These allegationgarticularly when coupled with the allegations of cronyisufficiently claim
that Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart lacked probable cause.

Moreover, the Court points out théte Morgan County Defendantsmitted a relevant
portion ofthe language from the rule ithillipsv. Allen, 668 F.3d 912, 915 (7ir. 2012) when
theyarguethattheidentification from a single eyewitness is generally enough to estabtishipe
cause for an arrestAs Mr. Owens pointout in his responsePhillips actually states that

“[]dentification of a single eyewitnes#o lacks an apparent grudge against the accused person
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supplies probable cause fan arrest.> Phillips, 668 F.3d af15 (emphasis added)The Court
remindsthe Morgan County Defendaht&ttorneythatan attorneyhasan ethical duty not téle
briefs advancing arguments thately upon mischaracterizations of the law This
mischaracterizatiogreatly undermines thettorney’scredibility and the argument’s meriThus,
moving forward, the Court will carefully construe the Morgan County Defendantsoosdo
assurdhat theattorney’sethical obligations are met.

b. State Law Elements of Malicious Prosecution

The Court concludes that Mr. Owensagassufficientallegationsto set fath a state law
cause of action for malicious prosecution. Although the Morgan County Defendants do not
challenge the other elements of a statertaadicious prosecutioalaim, the Court willnonetheless
address Mr. Owens’ allegatioimsaccordancéo each element.

As stated abovéthe elements of a malicious prosecution action are: (1) the defendant
instituted or caused to be instituted an action against the plaintiff; (2) teeddet acted
maliciously in so doing; (3) the defendant had no probable cause to institute the actidhtlaad (
original actionwas terminated in the plaintiff'favor.” Welton, 770 F.3d at 67{citing Buckland,

557 F.3dat462). Malice may be shown “by evidence of personal animosity or inferred from a
complete lack of probable cause or a failure to conduct an adequate investigation under the
circumstances.Welton, 770 F.3d at 674

First, Mr. Owens sufficiently allegebat Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart caused to

be instituted an action against Mr. Owens. Both offic@restigated thérespassncidentsand

drafted theprobable cause affidavits, whiatere the basis of the criminal charges against Mr.

® Ultimately, Phillips has no bearing in this case because Mr. Owens does not dispute whether
there was probable cause to make an arrest, but whether there was probable parses to
criminal chargesagainst him.
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Owens SecondMr. Owens sufficiently allegethe requisite malice. Hallegesthat the Beaver
Defendants conspired with Sheriff Down® pursue criminal chargethat Sheriff Downey and
Deputy Gabehart lacked probable cause, and that they both failed to conduct amteadequ
investigation. Third, as addressed ahdwie Owens sufficiently allegebat both officers lacked
probable causewhen pursuingcriminal charges against Mr. Owens. Lastly, the criminal
proceedings ended in Mr. Owens’ favor becawseavas acquitted of all chargestlag criminal
trial.
c. Fourth AmendmenYiolation

The Morgan County Defendarngsesent two challengésMr. Owens’ Fourth Amendment
claim for federal malicious prosecutiorfirst, they challeng®lr. Owens claimthat Mr. Owens
was deprived of his property from th&ate court’order imposing restrictions on the use of his
propertybecause Mr. Owens had the opportunity to appear with counsel and present arguments at

the hearing. filing No. 37 at 9, 2] They allege that the court ordestricting the use of pperty

was a result o& continuing problenbetween the Beaver Defendants and Mr. Owaer that
neitherSheriff Downeynor Deputy Gbehart were connected with that caarder. [iling No.

37 at 10, 2] Second, the Morgan County Defendants argue that Mr. Oabegationf being

pulled over twentysix times does not rise to a Fourth Amendment violation. They claim that Mr.
Owens does not allege that Sheriff Downey or Deputy Gabehart were personallgdnvothe
stops, and thahe Morgan County Sheriff's Department has no control over the tsadijsfrom

the Indiana State Police[Filing No. 37 at20.] Lastly, theyarguethatMr. Owens fails to show

thatsuch conducivas an expresgepartmenpolicy or a wide practice or customFiling No. 37

at 21]
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In responseMr. Owensarguesthat his Fourth Amendmentights were violatedbecause
during the pendency of his criminal action, he was prohibited from entering and usiogrhi

driveway with the threat of incarceratiorkil[ng No. 45 at 13 Mr. Owensclaimsthat reasonable

inferences can be drawn that either Sheriff Downey or Deputy Gabehmarhwareof or involved

in thetwenty-six traffic stops. Filing No. 45 at 19 He argues that since Sheriff Downey is the

chief executive and final decision maker of the Morgan County Slsebipartmentthere is a
reasonable inference that he was avedyelirected, or condoned Mr. Owerstbps. Filing No.
45 at 13] Similarly, he argues that there is a reasonable inference that Deputy Galasheastare

of or deliberately turned a blind eye to tiaeenty-six traffic stops. Filing No. 45 at 13

In reply, the Morgan County Defendamtgue thaMr. Owens restrictionson the use of
his propertywereimposed with due processdthat Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart were

not involved in or aware of theroceeding involving theourt order. [filing No. 46 at 1611.]

Theyreiterate that Mr. Owens provides no facts that Sheriff Downey or Dé&patbghart were

directly involved inMr. Owens’twenty-six traffic stops. Filing No. 46 at 1(

Although theSeventh Circuit hasot specifically articulated what type of seizures
constitute &ourth Amendmentiolationin terms ofa 8§ 1983claim for maliciousprosecutionit
has indicated that the Fourth Amendment protects against malmrosscution, at least before
arraignment See McCullah v. Gadert, 344 F.3d 655 (7th Cir. 2008DiscussingSeventh Circuit
precedent dealing wittnalicious prosecution and statitigat it is possible to state8a1983claim
that relies on the Fourth Amendmgnfvila v. Pappas, 591 F.3d 552, 553 (7th Ci2010)
(Although “maliciousprosecution daenot violate the Constitutiontiie process clauses|,] [t]here
might be a problem undehe [Hourth [A]Jmendmentf a person is arrested without probable

cause.J. To make out a clairfor an unreasonable seizure in violation of the Fourth Amendment,
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theplaintiff must allege that theéefendantstonduct constituted a seizure, and that the seizure was
unreasonableSee Bielanski v. Cnty. of Kane, 550 F.3d 632, 637 (7th Cir. 20Q08gcher v. Norton,
497 F.3d 742, 747 (7th Cir. 2007A seizure of a person is generally defined in terms of an
intentional limitation of a personfseedom of movementBielanski, 550 F.3d at 637

To the extent that theoart order restricted Mr. Owenase of his propertyhe Court finds
that Mr. Owenssufficiently allegesa predicateFourth Amendment violation. Althouglhe
language of thé&ourth Amendmentsuggesiis] tha the core meaning d$eizures’is arrests, or
similar acts that impose an immedigteysical restraint on a persbon,lovet v. City of Chicago,
761 F.3d 759, 7647th Cir. 2014) & this stage of the litigatiorihe Courtlooks towhether Mr.
Owens hasatisfied the notice pleading standards of Rule 8 and if thetifiattse presentedould
entitle him to relief uder any applicable leg#teory,see McCullah, 344 F.3d at 659Thus,Mr.
Owenssufficiently allegesa connection between the restrainttbe use of his property arils
criminal prosecution for trespas3he probable cause affidavits &heriff Downey ad Deputy
Gabehart triggerethe criminal proceedingsgainst Mr. Owes and, as a consequentee state
court imposed restrictions on thee of Mr. Owens’ propertthrough a court orderThe Court is
not making adecision on theltimatemerits of the case, bittmerelyconcludeghatMr. Owens
sufficiently alleges constitutional violation for a federalalicious prosecutionlaimto proceed
at this time

The Court is not convinced, however, that Mr. Owens’ twaitytraffic stops constitute a
predicate Fourth Amendment violatiom terms of his malicious prosecution, he fails to allege a
connection between his twerg traffic stops and his criminal proceedings for tresp&ssst,
Mr. Owens failsto provide anycontext regarding each of the traffic stops and does not allege

whether he was placed under arrest or to what extemtalseseized during each of te&ps.
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Second Mr. Owens concedes that Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart were not personally
involved n all the twentysix stops Instead,he alleges that law enforcement from the Morgan
County Sheriff’'s Department and the Indiana State Police were involved in tbpsegtird, the
assertion that Sheriff Downey was aware of or condoned the tspngyops isa conclusion not
supported by anspecificfactual allegations.
d. Fourteenth Amendment Violation

The Morgan County Defendangsgue that Mr. Owens has not presentepredicate
Fourteenth Amendment violation in connection with faderal malicious prosecution claim
They argudhat since Mr. Owens posted bond after his arrest and was tried and acquitted of all the

charges, he was not deprivedto$ liberty. [Filing No. 37 at 9 They claim that Mr. Owens

provides no allegationghat Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart knowingly made false

statements in their probable cause affidaviEsling No. 37 at 1J Moreover, the Morgan County

Defendants clainthat Mr. Owens does not make a propim underBrady v. Maryland, 373
U.S. 83 (1963)sinceMr. Owenswasacquitted of althe chargeand cannot show that suppression

of anyexculpatory evidence prejudiced his defenseling No. 37 at 10-1] They furtherargue

that there isno allegation that Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart suppressed Mrn'Griffi
survey work and that i¥ir. Griffin was a statevitness, the prosecutor would k&ble for failure

to produce such evidencefiljng No. 37 at 14 Regarding Mr. Owns’ twentysix traffic stops

the Morgan County Defendants argue thath incidentslid notcauseMr. Owensto testify falsely

anddid not deprive hinof a fair trial [Filing No. 37 at 13

In response, Mr. Owens argues that $wdficiently allegesan infringement of his

procedural du@rocesgights [Filing No. 45 at 1 Mr. Owensargueshat the Morgan County

Defendants withheld information or evideneecessary for a fair trial.E{ling No. 45 at 1(J He
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claimsthat Sheriff Downey failed to disclose his knowledge of the personal amntesween
the BeaveDefendants and Mr. Owens, ahét Sheriff Downey based hisgbablecause Hidavit

entirely on Briama'’s unsignedwritten statement[Filing No. 45 at 1(J Additionally, le argues

that the Morgan County Defendants departed from the departrpehtyg when they did not refer

the matter to a neutral third partyEiljng No. 45 at 1011.] Lastly, Mr. Owensargues that being

pulled over twentysix times by deputies from th#&organ County Sheriff's Department
immediately preceding the tornado siteal was a pattern of witness intimidation and bullying.

[Filing No. 45 at 1]

In reply, the Morgan County Defendants argue iiatOwens does not respondanoy of

their Brady arguments.[Filing No. 46 at § Theyclaimthat Mr. Owens provides no allegations

that Sheriff Downey was aware of any animosity between the Beaver Defendakts &wiens
and that in addition to Brieaa’s written statement, Sheriff Downey had Shelly’s statement

regarding what Briema reported. Hiling No. 46 at 4 They also claim thatsuch conduct

occurred prior to the arraignmesmidwould notbepart of the malicious prosecution clainpEiling

No. 46 at 24.] The Morgan County Defendants argue that Mr. Ovaeresnot allege the existence

of a policythat requiredhe Morgan County Sheriff's Department to refer the investigation of his
case to the state police and that even if such policy existeduld notviolate the Constitution

[Filing No. 46 at §

“[C]ourts have recognized that the harm caused by malicious prosecutions may implicate
liberty and property interests, as contemplated by the Due Process Cheaserino v. Hensley,
735 F.3d 588594-95(7th Cir. 2013) “[W] hen brought under federal law, the claim referred to
colloquially and under state common law as ‘malicious prosecuttypically based on the

deprivation of liberty without due process of law, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment
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Freeman v. City of Crown Point, 2014 WL 545511, at *6 (N.D. Ind. Feb. 11, 20{el)ing 3 U.S.
Const. amend. X1V, 8)isee Julian, 732 F.3d at 845 (7th Cir. 2013)

The Court findghat Mr. Owens’ allegationshat Sheriff Downey and Deputgabehart
withheld exculpatory evidencsufficiently allegesa procedural due processolation. The
Morgan County DefendantdBrady argument thatMr. Owens was not prejudiced by any
suppresseéxculpatory information because he was successful in his criminaktiieglevant
The Court’s dutyat this stage of the proceedinigdo determine if Mr. Owens presentadlaim
for relief and not to make a determination of that claim on the mévitseover contrary to the
Morgan County Defendants’ arguments, Mr. OwsuSiciently allegesthat Sheriff Downeyand
Deputy Gabeharknowingly withheld material evidence from tipgosecutor For instance, Mr.
Owensallegesthat Sheriff Downeyhad a close relationship with the Beaver Defendants, that
Sheriff Downey andeputy Gabehart were aware of the animosity between the Beaver Defendants
and Mr. Owens, and that both officententionally concealed thatformation in their probable
cause Hidavits. Additionally,Mr. Owens allegethat Sheriff Downeyreceived a letter from Mr.
Owens’ attorney regardirthe properly line disputeSuch factual allegations are sufficient to state
a constitutional violation fomalicious prosecutionSee Reed v. City of Chicago, 77 F.3d 1049
(7th Cir. 1996)(The Court held that thdantiff failed to allegethatthe detectives gave perjured
testimony at the hearings, falsified evidence, or withheld patoity informatiorafterhis arrest,
indicating that such allegations could statedaim for malicious prosecutifyrSerino, 735 F.3cht
588 (The plaintiff failedto allege that the chief of police’s statements were knowingly false, that
he withheld exculpatory evidence from the prosecutor, or that he took steps to wronmfiady f

a baseless prosecution)
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The Court, howeverdismisses the rest dfir. Owens’ allegationggainst the Morgan
County Defendants. AlthougWir. Owens does natllegethat he was deprived of his liberty due
to his arresf he also does noéspond to the Morgan County Defendantguaneniand therefore,
waives thisssue Moreover asdiscussed aboy®r. Owens’ twentysix traffic stops do not state
a predicate constitutional violation for malicious prosecution against Sherifi@®oand Deputy
Gabehart. Lastlythe Court is not persuaded by Mr. Oweakegationthatthe Morgan County
Sheriff's Department and Sheriff Downey violated his constitutionalsigienhis casavas not
referred to a neutral third parper department policy.He fails to sufficiently allege that a
departmenpolicy existed andvas violategdandto what extensuch violationmight constitutea
procedural due procesgolation in connection with his criminal prosecution. Thus, the Court
dismisses albf Mr. Owens’ claims against the Morgan County Sheriff's Department.

e.Qualified Immunity

The Morgan County Defendants argue that they are entitled to qualifieghityrfor any
malicious prosecution claim or any claghfalse arrest under the Fourth Amendmefilirfg No.

37 at 2223.] They allege thagiventhe holdings oKelley, 149 F.3d at 64andBozdin, 768 F.2d
722, the law is not clearly establisheelgardingwhether daw enforcement officeis required to
make an independent determination of boundary lines befterminingthat probable cause

existsto makean arrest for trespasskiling No. 37 at 22-23

In response, Mr. Owens argues that Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart enditiext

to qualified immunity. [Filing No. 45 at 14 He reiterates thaachofficer basecis probable

cause affidait on thewritten statement of single witness who was personal friends with Sheriff

® The Amended Complaint does not provide any context regarding Mr. Owens’ arresthathe
he was'falsely arrested and chargéd[Filing No. 33 at 19.
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Downey and had a personal grudge against Mr. Oweénisag No. 45 at 19 Mr. Owensfurther

alleges that Sheriff Downey was aware of the properydispute between the Beaver Defendants
and Mr. Owens and that he never spoke to Briaabut rathereceived her unsignedvritten

statement fronshelly. [Filing No. 45 at 19

In reply, the Morgan County Defendants argue that there @dearly established law that
requires law enforcemetd verify boundary lines of propertgndthatthey areentitled to rely on
therepresentations of the person claiming ownership of the property againtdgled &respasser

[Filing No. 46 at 1 They further allege that MOwens has not cited authority that allows a

person who claims adverse possession of a profgerbam freely orthatproperty. Filing No.
46 at 12]

“The doctrine of qualified immunity protects government officials from liabilaty divil
damages when their conduct does not violate clearly established statutongtmiutonal rights
of which a reasonable person would have knowdcAllister v. Price, 615 F.3d 877, 881 (7th
Cir. 2010) (citing Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 2312009). To determine whether a
defendant is entitled tqualified immunity, the Courtmust address two issues: “(1) whether the
defendant violated thglaintiff’ s constitutional rights and (2) whether the right at issue was clearly
establishedat the time of the violation.”Rooni v. Biser, 742 F.3d 737, 742 (7th Cir. 2014)
(citatiors omitted).

The Court denies the Morgan County Defendacitsim for qualified immunity which at
the juncture is based solely on the allegations raised in Mr. Owens’ complaiat arguments
essentially challenge Mr. Owens’ factual allegatiquasticularly with the issue of probable cause,
andthereforethe Court cannot maka determination of qualified immunitt this stage of the

litigation. Moreover, ‘gn amendedfomplaint isgenerally not dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) on
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qualified immunity grounds.”Alvarado v. Litscher, 267 F.3d 648, 6552 (7th Cir. 2001) see
Jacobs v. City of Chicago, 215 F.3d 758, 765 n.3 (7th Cir. 2000The plaintiff is notrequired
initially to plead factual allegations that anticipate and overcomgefanse of qualified
immunity’); See Hunafa v. Murphy, 907 F.2d 46, 49 (7th Cir. 199()The principle that the
determination of immunity need not be made at the earliest opportunity if a fulldopleeat of

the record would be helpful to a sound decision is well established.”).

2. Conspiracy
TheMorgan County Defendants claim that the only agreement that Mr. Owens had allege

is that Sheriff Downey and Charlie agreed to speak with Mr. Owens about thessréspee.

[Filing No. 37 at 23 They argue that Mr. Owens provides no allegatioran @jreement between

theMorgan County [@fendant@&ndthat Mr. Owens has not presented a constitutional violation to

provide a basis for a conspiracy clainkilipg No. 37 at 23

In response, Mr. Owerdaimsthathe provides sufficient allegations of a civil conspiracy
involving Sheriff Downey, Deputy Gabehart, and the Morgan County Sheriff's ridegat

[Filing No. 45 at 1617.] He argueghat Sheriff Downey is a personal friend tbe Beaver

Defendants and that Sheriff Downey was aware of the property line dispute betweeraties B

Defendants and Mr. Owens|Filing No. 45 at 14 He further claims the Morgan County

Defendand acted with an improper motivi® help the Beaver Defendants and to intimidate Mr.

Owens. [Filing No. 45 at 14 Mr. Owens argues that evdrhie did notknow of theconspiracy,

Depuy Gabehartwiolated Mr. Owers’ rights by charging him witladditional criminal charges

without probable cause]Filing No. 45 at 1] He also argues that the deputies of the Morgan

County Sheriff's Departmentiolated Mr. Owens’ clearly established rights by pulling him over

twenty-six timesin order to intimidate him before trialFiling No. 45 at 17
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The Morgan County Defendants do not reply to Mr. Owens’ arguments.

Conspiracy is not amdependent basis of liabilitySmith v. Gomez, 550 F.3d 613, 617
(7th Cir. 2008) “In a [8§ 1983] case],] . . . the function of conspiracy doctrine is merely to yoke
particular individuals to the specific torts charged in the complailaties v. City of Chicago, 856
F.2d 985, 992 (7th Cir. 1988)To adequately plead a conspiracy under 8§ 19§8aiatiff must
show that a defendant voluntarily participated in a common venture to violatenéffiga
constitutional rights.ld.

The Court agrees with Mr. Owens thatdugficiently pleadsa civil conspiracy involving
Sheriff Downey,Deputy Gabehartand the Beaver Defendarits‘[l] t is enough in pleading a
conspiracy merely to indicate the parties, general purpose, and approxatgteal that the
defendarfs] hgve] notice of whafthey arelcharged witH. Walker v. Thompson, 288 F.3d 1005,
1007 (7th Cir. 2002) First, the Couralready established that Mr. Owens sufficiently allebas
Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart violated his constitutional rigBscond,Mr. Owens
sufficiently pleadsthat Sheriff Downey and the Beaver Defendants, age a personal
relationship, conspiretbgetherto seekand pursudrespasscharges against Mr. OwenaMir.
Owensallegesthat Sheriff Downey was aware of the Beaver Defendants’ animosity toward M
Owers, and that under the direction of the Beaver Defendants, Sheriff Dawnépnted Mr.
Owens about his trespass and tlfiled a pobable cause ffidavit to pursue tresgss charges
against Mr. Owens Additionally, Mr. Owens sufficiently allegethat, at the very leasDeputy
Gabehartwho works under the direction of Sheriff Downeglied onCharlie’s testimony and

Chuck’swritten statemento pursueadditionalchargesf trespassgainst Mr. Owens. The Court,

"The Beaver Defendants’ arguments challenging Mr. Owearspiracy clainare addressed later
in the decision.
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however, dismisses theconspiracyclaim against the Morgan County Sheriff'separtment
becausge as discussed earlieMr. Owensfails to plead thatthe Morgan County Sheriff's
DepartmentiolatedMr. Owens constitutional rights.
3. Timely Notice and Immunity Provisions under the ITCA
The Morgan County Defendants argue that Mr. Owens’ state law clamfade arrest,
abuse of procesandintentional infliction of emotional distresse barredbecause he failed to

provide timely notice of theort clains as requird by the ITCA [Filing No. 37 at 23

Additionally, the Morgan County Defendants argbat under theTICA, Sheriff Downey and
Deputy Gabehart are immune from liabilisom Mr. Owens’ state law claimsf malicious
prosecution, false arrest, abuse of process, and intentional infliction abeatalistress. Hiling

No. 37 at 26-27 .

Mr. Owens does not respond to the Morgan County Defendants’ arguments.
In reply, the Morgan County Defendants reitethtgthe Court should dismiss Mr. Owens’

state law claims for thaforementionedeasons.[Filing No. 46 at 19

By failing to respondMr. Owensis deemed to have waived the argumentthese issues
and the Court dismisses Mr. Owens’ state law claims against the Morgan Caiahdénts
Goodpaster v. City of Indianapolis, 736 F.3d 1060, 1075 (7th Ci013)(“Because [the plaintiffs]
did not provide the district court with any basis to decide their claims, and did pohde® the
[defendants] arguments, these claims are waived9nte v. U.S Bank, N.A., 624 F.3d 461, 466
(7th Cir.2010)(“Failure to respond to an argument. .results in waiver.”)Bratton v. Roadway
Package Sys., Inc., 77 F.3d 168, 173 n. 1 (7th Cit996)(argument waived where appellants
“failed to develop the arguent in anymeaningful manner”).The Court therefore dismisses Mr.

Owens'’s state law claims against the Morgan County Defendants.
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B. The Beaver Defendants
The Beaver Defendants challenge Mr. Owens’ conspiracy claim and state law. claim
First, they argudiiat Mr. Owens does not adequately plead a conspiracy claim. Second, the Beaver
Defendants argue that Mr. Owens does not plead claims for intentional or recitiessn of
emotional distressnalicious prosecutiorfalse arrestor abuse of process.
1. Conspiracy
The Beaver Dandants argue that Mr. Owens does not plead tlatshowan agreement

involving all the defendants.F{ling No. 42 at § Theycontendthat the only agreemeiMr.

Owens allegess thatSheriff Downey and Charliagreel to discuss the trespass issue with Mr.

Owens. Filing No. 42 at § They further claim that there was no constitutional violation to

providea basis for a conspiracy clainfiljng No. 42 at §

In his responseayir. Owensclaims that he sufficiently allegéisat the Beaver Defendants

were involved in a conspiracy with tMorgan County Defendant$Filing No. 45 at 1617.] Mr.

Owensargueghat Sheriff Downey is personal friendf the Beaver Defendants and tisdteriff
Downeywas aware of the property line dispute between the Beaver Defendants andévis. O

[Filing No. 45 at 1§ He claims that the Morgan County Defendardte@ with an improper

motiveto help the Beaver Defendarststtle a longstanding civil dispute withr. Owens [Filing
No. 45 at 19

The Beaver Defendants did not file a regdyief.

“[P]rivate citizensnaybe brought within the grasp of section 1983 even though the statute
is limited to acts under color of state law. [where]the citizelis] may have conspired with a

public employee to deprive the plaintiff of his constitutional righg.offitt v. Ridgway, 279 F.3d
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503, 507 (7th Cir. 2004kitations omitted) As a conspiratora citizen is liablefor the wrongful
acts of the other conspirators committed within the scope of the conspidacy.

The Courtagrees withMr. Owensthat heprovidessufficient allegations that the Beaver
Defendants weralso involved in a civil conspiracy against Mr. Owensirst, he Courthas
alreadydetermined thiaMir. Owens sufficiently allegethat Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart
violated Mr. Owens’ constitutional rights. Second, Mr. Owaufficiently pleadsthat the Beaver
Defendantxonspired with Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart by falsely acctin@wens
of trespassingn their property to pursue criminal charges against iharlie contacted Sh#
Downey to accuse and confront Mr. Owens of trespassing the Disputed Property. Sbelly al
contacted Sheriff Downey to tell him that Bri@arwitnessed Mr. Owens trespassing the property,
and she delivered Brieaa's written statement to Sheriff Downe Sheriff Downeys probable
causedffidavit was based oBrieama’s unsigned, writterstatement andnce thdrespass charges
were filed against Mr. OwenBeputy Gabehangpursued additional charges trespasdvased on
Charlie’stestimonyand Chuck’s written statementhe Court concludes that these allegations are
sufficient toindicate that the Beaver Defendants were involved in the civil conspiracy.

2. Intentional or Reckless Infliction of Emotional Distress?

The Beaver Defendants argue that Mr. Owdass not have claim for intentional or
reckless infliction of emotional distredsecause he provides revidence that Mr. Owens
experienced direct physicampact nor any allegations that thgeaver Defendand causel

“intentional recklessnfliction of emotional distress.F[ling No. 42 at 9

8 The Beaver Defendants also argbat Mr. Owens does not plead facts to support a diaim
negligent iffliction of emotional distress, biir. Owens does natise this claimn the Amended
Complaint. Thus, the Court will not address it.
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In his response, Mr. Owens argues that a direct physical impact of the plainbt an

elemenbf intentionalor recklessnfliction of emotional distress.F[ling No. 45 at 19 Heargues

thatthe Beaver Defendants engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct by proddnegdals
and false statements to the Morgan County Sheriff's Department in orgergoecriminal

charges against Mr. Owens prior to the tornado siren tridling No. 45 at 19 Mr. Owens

further claimsthat he alleged that the Beaver Defendauti®ed intentionally in causing false
criminal charges to be brought against Mr. Owens, and intended their conduct to causetam se

emotional distress.Ffling No. 45 at 19

Again, the Beaver Defendants did not file a rdpigf.

To establish a claim for intentioniafliction of emotional distress, the plaintiffust prove
that the defendants: (Engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct (2) which intentionally or
recklessly (3) causes (4) severe emotional distress to andtiesiminster Presbyterian Church
of Muncie v. Yonghong Cheng, 992 N.E.2d 859, 870 (IndCt. App. 2013)(citing Cullison v.
Medley, 570 N.E.2d 27, 31 (Ind. 1991) Indiana courts use a rigorous standard to establish
extreme or outrageous condudt/estminster, 992 N.E.2d at 870 Outrageous conduct must be
“so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded a
atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized communitg.”(citing Bradley v. Hall, 720 N.E.2d
747, 752-53 (Ind. Ct. App. 1999)

The Court concludes thdr. Owers sufficiently pleadsa claim for intentional nfliction
of emotional distressThe Beaver Defendantargumenthat Mr. Owens provideso evidenc®f
direct physical impact ismmaterial because not only ir. Owensnot required to present
evidence athe pleading stage, bat drect physical impact is natequiredfor an intentional

infliction of emotional distresslaim. Mr. Owens sufficiently pladsthat the Beaver Defendants
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engaged in outrageous conductdaysing criminal charges of trespass to be instituted against Mr.
Owensthrough cronyism with the Morgan County Defendants, and that such conduct caused him
severe emotional distres§he Courtacknowledges, howevdhatextreme or outrageous conduct

is a rigorous standard, and notes tihas not decidingthis issue on thamerits but merely
recognizinghatMr. Owers statesa claimfor relief atthis stage of the litigation.

3. Sate Law Claims of Malicious Prosecution, False Arrest, and Abuse of Process

The Beaver Defendants challerajeof Mr. Owens’ state law claims. They argue tthegt
false arrest claim fails becauieey do not have the capacity or power to arrest Mr. Owens.
Further, the Beaver Defendants argue that Mr. Owens has no claims for alpreeests or
malicious prosedion, and that the only facte substantiate such claims are those that allege that
Charlie filed a complaint against Mr. Oweatthe Morgan County Board of Zoning Appeals.

In response, Mr. Owerdaimsthathehassufficiently pleda malicious prosecution claim
against the Beaver Defendants. He argues tttetBeaver Defendants caused the criminal
prosecution to be initiated against Mr. Owens with their false statements, thattieywéth
malice, and that the cause of action terminated in Mr. Owens’ favor.

Once again,ite BeaveDefendants did naeply.

The essence of malicious prosecution rests on the notion that the plaastifbeen
improperly subjected to legal processty of New Haven v. Reichhart, 748 N.E.2d 374, 378 (Ind.
2001} Ziobron v. Crawford, 667 N.E.2d 202, 208 (Ind. Ct. App996) Under Indiana law, “the
elements of a malicious prosecution action are: (1) the defendant institutedisedcto be
instituted an action against the plaintiff; (2) the defendant acted maliciously wirgp (B) the
defendant had no probable cause to institute the action; and (4) the originahasti@mminated

in the plaintiff's favor.” Welton, 770 F.3d at 674(citing Buckland, 557 F.3d at 462
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The Court finds thaiir. Owenssufficiently pleads amalicious prosecutionlaim against
theBeaver DefendantsAdditionally, the Court dismisses Mr. Owens’ claimsdouse of process
and false arresagainst the Beaver DefendardtsAs discussed in detail abovklr. Owens
sufficiently allegesthatthe Beaver Defendantslong with Sheriff Downey and Deputy Gabehart
caused criminal charges trespass to be instituted against Mr. OweMs. Owensalleges the
requisite malicédy describing the Beaver Defendants’ historgimimosityagainstr. Owensand
their false allegationthat Mr. Owens trespasséaeir property. Regarding the probable cause
element, the Coudoncluded earliethat Mr. Owens sufficiently alleg¢hat there was no probable
cause to pursue criminal charges of trespass again€iwéns. Lastly, Mr. Owens was successful
when he was acquitted of all charges at the erdsofriminaltrial. Thus, Mr. Owens’ state law
claim for malicious prosecution against the Beaver Defendants proceeds.

V.
CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the CAQRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART
the Morgan County Defendants’ and the Beaver Defendants’ Motions to DismisSvwéns
Amended Complaint. Npartialjudgment shall issue at this time.
The Cout makes the following rulings
* Plaintiffs 8§ 1983 claim for federalmalicious prosecution based on a Fourth

Amendment violatiorior being deprivedaf the useof his propertyagainst Sheriff
DowneyandDeputy Gabeharhay proceeg

% In his response, Mr. Owens raises no arguments pertaining to the abuse of praisssaoekt
claims andmerely states: “For the foregoing reasons, [Mr.] OweAs¥ended Complaint has
alleged sufficient facts to establish the basis of a claim for maliciousqutisn against the Beaver
Defendants.” [filing No. 45 at 2qoriginal emphasis).[This statement is insufficient taiseany
argument in opposition to the Defendants’ motion.
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Plaintiff's § 1983 claim for federal malicious prosecution based on a Fourteenth
Amendment violationfor withholding exculpatoryevidence against Sheriff
Downey and Deputgabehartnay proceeq

Plaintiff's civil conspiracy claimagainst Sheriff Downey, Deputy Gabehart, and
the Beaver Defendanisay proceed

Plaintiff's state law claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress agairmest th
Beaver Defendant®ay proceed

Plaintiff's state law claim fomalicious prosecution against the Beaver Defendants
may proced;

Plaintiff's claim based upobeing pulled ovetwenty-six timesas part of hi§ 1983
claim for federal malicious prosecutioagainst Sheriff Downey and Deputy
Gabeharts dismissed;

Plaintiff's claimthatthe Morgan County Defendant®lateddepartment policas
part of his § 1983 claim for federal malicious prosecutiahsmissed,

Morgan County Defendants’ request for qualified immunity is demtout
prejudice;

Plaintiff's state law claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress, malicious
prosecution, abuse of process, and false arrest against Sheriff Downegpang D
Gabehart are dismissed;

Plaintiff's state law claims for abuse of process and falssiagainst the Beaver
Defendants are dismissed; and

Norman Voyles, Morgan County, and the Morgan County Sheriff's Deparament
terminated as a defendant
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